PAST LAST CALL

G20 PUBLIC FINANCE INSTITUTIONS ARE STILL BANKROLLING FOSSIL FUELS

OCTOBER 2021





October 2021

This report was researched and written by Bronwen Tucker (Oil Change International) and Kate DeAngelis (Friends of the Earth US) with contributions from Laurie van der Burg (Oil Change International).

The authors are grateful for feedback on the text and/or dataset from the following reviewers:

Kyle Gracey, Susanne Wong and Collin Rees of Oil Change International, Wawa Wang of Just Finance International, Alia Kajee of 350Africa.org, Anna-Lena Rebaud of Les Amis de la Terre, Simone Ogno and Antonio Tricarico of Re:Common, Hozue Hatae and Jatae Jossue of Friends of the Earth Japan, Regine Richter of Urgewald, Yuki Tanabe of Japan Center for a Sustainable Environment and Society (JACSES), Xinyue Ma and Kevin Gallagher of Boston University, Wiert Wiertsema of Both ENDS, María Marta Di Paola of Fundación Ambiente y Recursos Naturales (FARN), Karen Hamilton of Above Ground, Gabriele Nanni and Katuscia Eroe of Legambiente, Lavinia Steinfort of Transnational Institute, Bernadette Maheandiran of Market Forces, Mariana Gutierrez and Rafael Fonseca of Iniciativa Climática de México, Katherine Tu and Teresa Anderson of ActionAid, Dina Rui of Jubilee Australia, and Kate Geary and Petra Kjell of Recourse.org.

All monetary values in this report are stated in United States dollars (USD).

Design: JML Design

Cover image: Samira Zaman, CC BY-NC-SA 2.0

Inside front cover image: Patrick Perkins / Climate Visuals Countdown

PUBLISHED IN COLLABORATION WITH -



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

In 2018-2020 G20 countries and the multilateral development banks (MDBs) they govern provided at least **USD 63 billion per year** in international public finance for oil, gas, and coal projects. This fossil fuel finance was 2.5 times more than their support for renewable energy, which averaged only \$26 billion per year.

This continued support for fossil fuels from trade and development finance institutions counters G20 countries' commitments under the Paris Agreement to align financial flows with a safe climate future as well as their 2009 commitment to phase out fossil fuel subsidies. It also undermines the effectiveness of climate finance, which is still not delivered at either the scale promised (\$100 billion per year from 2020) or needed. Public finance has an outsized impact on global energy systems, providing below-market rates and decreasing financial risks that make projects much more likely to go forward - something that is increasingly influential as the industry faces unprecedented global headwinds. Recognizing this impact, most G20 countries have ended support for coal or will by the end of 2021. Some momentum is now building to end public finance for oil and gas as well, with the UK and European Investment Bank (EIB) passing policies that limit almost all of this remaining fossil fuel finance. COP26 is an important opportunity for other countries around the world to join them.

Using Oil Change International's Shift the Subsidies database, this briefing builds on past reports *Talk is Cheap* and *Still Digging*, which covered 2012-2018 to publish new international public finance data for 2019 and 2020. It looks at the energy project finance of G20 export credit agencies (ECAs), development finance institutions (DFIs), and multilateral development banks (MDBs). Due to gaps in reporting and increased flows to financial intermediaries that are more difficult to track, it is important to note these figures are underestimated. Our analysis shows that:

• International public finance for fossil fuels remains large. The 2018-2020 average of \$63 billion per year has dropped from the 2012 to 2017 averages of \$91 billion per year, but as Figure ES-1 shows, finance levels remain volatile. In the absence of policies to end fossil fuel finance, this drop in 2018-2020 is not guaranteed to be permanent and is far from the complete

and immediate end to public support for oil, gas, and coal that is urgently needed. Gaps in transparency and the increase of financial intermediation mean it is also uncertain a decrease has occurred.

- 51% of international public finance for fossil fuels flowed to gas projects. This \$32 billion a year is more than any other energy type received from 2018-2020, and greater than all renewable energy finance combined. In comparison, coal received \$8 billion a year and the aggregated "oil and gas" category \$23 billion.
- International public finance for renewable energy has largely stagnated since 2014. Support for renewable energy has fluctuated between \$20 billion and \$27 billion per year since 2014 instead of growing exponentially as is needed to support a globally just energy transition.
- ECAs were the worst public finance actors, providing 11 times as much support for fossil fuels than renewable energy with \$40 billion per year for fossils and just \$3.5 billion for renewable energy.
- DFIs and MDBs continue to finance fossil fuels despite their mandates for sustainable development: DFIs financed \$16 billion in fossil fuels a year 2018-2020, twice as much as their support for renewable energy. MDBs financed \$6.4 billion a year in fossil fuels, just under half of their support for renewable energy.

At the country level, we find that:

- Canada, Japan, Korea, and China again provided the most public finance for fossil fuels between 2018 and 2020 at \$11.0 billion, \$10.9 billion, \$10.6 billion, and \$7.3 billion a year respectively, together accounting for 46% of the MDB and G20 fossil fuel finance in our dataset.
- **Germany, France, and Japan** provided the most public finance for renewable energy, at \$2.8 billion, \$1.4 billion, and \$1.3 billion respectively. These levels are still many times lower than needed to meet climate targets.
- Most fossil fuel finance flowed to wealthier countries, countering industry claims that this money supports energy access or development. Of the top 20 recipients of public finance for fossil fuels, only one was low-income by the World





Bank classification (Mozambique), six were lower-middle income, and the remainder were upper or middle income.

 Renewable energy finance was also overwhelmingly concentrated in wealthy countries. For renewable energy, there were no low-income countries in the top 20 and just three lower-middle income countries.

We also map government and institution-level restrictions for finance for fossil fuels and find:

 Following widespread commitments to end public finance for coal, a small but growing group of 'first movers' is now phasing out public finance for oil and gas. The UK, European Investment Bank (EIB), and Sweden have passed policies restricting almost all oil and gas finance, and the US has signaled its intention to follow suit. Ten other G20 governments or institutions have added partial restrictions on oil and gas finance. The UK and the EIB are expected to lead a wider joint statement committing to end public finance for all fossil fuels with new signatories at COP26. As part of their fair share to limit warming to 1.5°C and ensure a liveable future, G20 governments and the MDBs they control must:

- Implement whole-of-government policies (or whole-ofinstitution policies in the case of MDBs) to immediately end new public direct and indirect finance for oil, gas, and coal projects.
- Engage in targeted diplomacy to end public finance for fossil fuels internationally.
- Provide their fair share of debt cancellation and climate finance to countries in the Global South. This will allow for the rapid scale up of renewable energy, energy efficiency, just transition planning, energy access, and other climate solutions in line with an equitable pathway to 1.5°C. To avoid deepening inequalities, these projects must be implemented with strong human rights due diligence and have planning that is inclusive of and takes leadership from local governments, workers, communities, CSOs, and trade unions.
- Ensure transparent and timely reporting on all energy finance.





People take refuge on the stand of a sports ground, following flooding caused by Cyclone Idai in Mozambique. by DFID - UK Department for International Development is licensed under CC BY 2.0



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Executive Summary	3
Introduction	7
Methodology and data sources	9
About the Data	9
Classifications of Energy Finance	9
Total figures are underestimates due to a lack of transparency	10
Trends in international public finance for energy over time	
International public finance for energy by country	13
Top recipient countries of public finance for fossil fuels	15
Export Credit Agencies	17
Development Finance Institutions	19
Multilateral Development Banks	21
Spotlight on public finance for gas	23
Gas is dirty, expensive and undermines the transition to clean energy	24
Tracking fossil fuel exclusion policies at international public finance institutions	25
Bilateral institutions	25
Multilateral institutions	29
Recommendations	
Appendix	
List of institutions included	
Tables with country and MDB international energy finance for 2018-2020	
References	

INTRODUCTION

The science is clear - governments must rapidly wind down fossil fuel production and use to avoid the worst climate impacts. The recent Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) report is a "code red for humanity," finding that the phase-out of fossil fuels and deforestation is even more urgent than previously known as they are putting billions of people and core ecosystem functioning at risk.¹ The IPCC recommends phasing out all fossil fuels for energy use and shifting fossil fuel subsidies to renewables. It emphasizes that gas cannot be used as a bridge fuel as was similarly highlighted in the UNEP Global Methane Assessment.² The IPCC is not alone. The International Energy Agency's (IEA) first 1.5°C aligned scenario has found "no need for investment in new fossil fuel supply" past 2021, meaning any finance in new oil and gas fields or new coal mines or mine extensions is inconsistent with meeting this goal.³ Indeed, the 2019 and 2020 Production Gap Reports from the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP), Stockholm Environment Institute, and others show that oil and gas production globally needs to decline by about 4% and 3% respectively every year between 2020 and 2030 to meet the 1.5°C goal.⁴ In addition, a report published in *Nature* shows that the committed emissions from existing power infrastructure already push global warming beyond the 1.5°C goal.⁵

While climate and economic risks mean new fossil fuel projects should be avoided everywhere, the wealthy countries most responsible for historic and current emissions — including most of the G20 — must move first and fastest to phase out their fossil fuel production and pay their fair share for the global energy transition.⁶ In the context of international public finance, this requires ending support for new fossil fuel projects immediately, shifting these funds to climate solutions, and committing additional funds to the lowest income countries through the cancellation of unfair debts and new grant-based and concessional climate finance.

Beyond breaking the carbon budget, continued public finance for fossil fuels from G20 governments contradicts best practices for achieving energy access and avoiding stranded assets.7 Utilityscale solar or onshore wind are now the cheapest sources of new power supply in countries that account for more than two-thirds of the global population and 91% of global power generation.⁸ The UN Sustainable Energy for All initiative includes as a core recommendation that "financing of fossil fuel projects as a means of closing the energy access gap should be terminated," as they are no longer the most cost-effective means of providing electricity and poorly suited to most rural areas or off-grid urban areas. Distributed renewable energy has strong cost and resilience advantages over fossil fuels.⁹ Many public finance institutions argue in particular that gas expansion is still needed, especially in the lowest-income countries. However the Step Off the Gas report found that most gas use in the Global South has renewable-based alternatives that are already cheaper. The vast majority are expected to be cheaper¹⁰ within a few years, with exceptions for industrial feedstocks and cement that make up less than 10 percent of gas use. Lastly, there is a growing financial risk to the public of government fossil fuel investments becoming stranded assets as decarbonization efforts scale up.¹¹ Public finance for fossil fuels privatizes the remaining profits of these ventures, and socializes the risks.

Public finance for energy plays an outsized role in shaping energy systems. These loans, grants, equity, and guarantees lower risk for other investors because they are government-backed and are often provided at preferential below-market rates.¹² These both help leverage additional investment for proposed projects. Public finance institutions further influence the energy landscape by signaling government priorities and adding research and advisory capacity. These are benefits that — if wielded alongside a commitment to human rights due diligence, community-led development, and strengthening public goods — are desperately needed for a just energy transition rather than for propping up the fossil fuel industry.¹³



Activists and volunteers from 350 Africa hold a banner with the message "Public money for a Just Recovery" in Cape Town, South Africa. They demand a Just Recovery for people and the planet as G20 Finance Ministers and Central banks governors meet in Saudi Arabia to discuss how to spend trillions of public dollars on economic recovery and stimulus.

Glen Tyler-Davies ©350.org (CC BY-NC 4.0)

METHODOLOGY AND DATA SOURCES

This briefing provides an update to our 2017 and 2020 reports *Talk is Cheap* and *Still Digging*. For a more in-depth methodology, see p. 11 of *Still Digging*.

ABOUT THE DATA

This briefing focuses on finance institutions where a national government holds more than 50% of the shares and where there is a clear policy mandate that drives decisions beyond solely commercial performance (see Table 1 for classifications and the Appendix for a full list). This means we do not cover finance or subsidies from G20 governments directly, sovereign wealth funds, or institutions owned by subnational governments. Generally, the MDBs, DFIs, and ECAs we cover provide energy finance internationally, but they sometimes also provide domestic support. These domestic projects are also included where information is available.

This report utilizes data from OCI's Shift the Subsidies database, which tracks energy finance from public finance institutions at the project and transaction level and covers over 14,000 transactions. This includes grants, loans, equity purchases, guarantees, and insurance, though we note that 70% of the total finance detailed in this report is from loans. This data is sourced primarily from government and institution reporting as well as the Infrastructure Journal (IJ) Global database and Boston University's Global Economic Governance Initiative's China Global Energy Database. Increased attention to international public finance for energy has led to higher levels of public finance across the 2012-2020 period due to new data made available from freedom of access to information requests from Solutions for our Climate (Korea), Jubilee Australia, and Urgewald (Germany) and in some cases, improved reporting from institutions. As a result, the past totals reported in *Talk is Cheap* and *Still Digging* have been revised upwards here.

CLASSIFICATIONS OF ENERGY FINANCE

Fossil Fuel: This includes the oil, gas, and coal sectors. This includes access, exploration and appraisal, development, extraction, preparation, transport, plant construction and operation, distribution, and decommissioning. It also includes energy efficiency projects where the energy source(s) involved are primarily fossil fuels.

Renewable: This includes energy that is both low-carbon and has negligible impacts on the environment and human populations if implemented with appropriate safeguards. This includes solar, wind, tidal, geothermal, and small-scale hydro. This classification also includes energy efficiency projects where the energy source(s) involved are not primarily fossil fuels.

Type of Institution	Typical Mandate	Examples
Multilateral Development Bank	Promote sustainable development and reduce poverty. Chartered and governed by more than one country	World Bank Group, Islamic Development Bank
Development Finance Institution	Promote sustainable development and reduce poverty. They may have secondary objectives based on national policy priorities. DFI's typically focus on bilateral finance but in the case of national development banks, their mandates may also include support for domestic industries.	China Development Bank (China), Agence Française de Développement (France), Nacional Financiera (Mexico)
Export Credit Agency	Promote the export of goods and services from their country.	Korea Trade Insurance Corporation (Korea), Euler Hermes (Germany)

Table 1: Kinds of public finance institutions included in this analysis

Other: This includes projects where (a) the energy source(s) are unclear or unidentified, as with many transmission and distribution projects as well as (b) non-fossil energy sources that typically have significant impacts on the environment and human populations. This includes large hydropower, biofuels, biomass, nuclear power, and incineration. More than 70% of this category is for transmission and distribution projects and projects where the energy source is unclear.

FIGURES ARE UNDERESTIMATED DUE TO A LACK OF TRANSPARENCY

Four significant limitations mean the figures presented in these reports are incomplete and therefore underestimated:

- Many institutions have limited or no reporting on their projects, meaning media reporting or paid databases like IJGlobal are the main sources available. Islamic Development Bank, China, Russia, India, Saudi Arabia, Mexico, South Africa, Indonesia and Turkey had particularly little publicly available information — meaning they do not have annual reports with project information, semi-regular press releases, a freedom-ofinformation request detailing funding, or any form of project database. The totals for other countries or institutions that do have some of these sources are still uncertain.
- Our data cannot account for all of the energy finance provided to financial intermediaries (FIs) — because the volume of finance for specific energy activities ultimately delivered through those intermediaries is often unclear. This is a significant gap given lending through financial intermediaries is often half to two-thirds of finance for institutions focused on private-sector lending, and up to a quarter for those more focused on sovereign lending.¹⁴ Financial intermediation is growing across all finance, and available data suggests this is likely the case for energy finance of the trade and development finance institutions mapped here.¹⁵
- We cannot account for energy-related portions of most policybased lending from MDBs (this is government budget support often provided across multiple sectors and departments), which can account for as much as 40% of their total lending in a given year.¹⁶
- We cannot account for all associated facilities investments in facilities directly associated with energy projects such as new roads, ports, or transmission lines needed for a fossil fuel project to operate; and for which in the absence of the energy project there would not be a demand to build them.

Few of the institutions assessed in this report allow public access to detailed investment information, and therefore we report the gross value of public finance from majority government-owned financial institutions for fossil fuel production (rather than just the concessional value or subsidy component).

An oil spill in Mauritius

2020 © International Maritime Organization (CC BY 2.0)



TRENDS IN INTERNATIONAL PUBLIC FINANCE FOR ENERGY OVER TIME

Before looking at country or institution level trends, here we assess the trends in international public finance for energy from G20 countries and the major MDBs they control over time. Overall:

- International public finance from G20 countries and MDBs averaged \$116 billion annually between 2018 and 2020. Over half — 54% — of this went to fossil fuels, compared to only 22% for renewable energy (Figure 1).
- In comparison to previous time periods, known fossil fuel finance in our dataset has dropped from an average of \$92 billion in 2012-2014 and \$90 billion in 2015-2017 to \$63 billion in 2018-2020. As Figure 1 shows, the annual totals are

volatile and it is too soon to say if there will be a sustained downwards trend. Part of the drop in fossil fuel finance shown in both Figure 1 and 2 is driven by a decrease in international investment across all sectors from **China** after 2016.¹⁷ There is nothing to suggest the drop seen in 2018-2020 is permanent without policies to end fossil fuel finance. It is also uncertain due to gaps in transparency. Most importantly, it is far from the complete and immediate halt of public support for new oil, gas, and coal projects that is urgently needed.

• Meanwhile, support for other forms of energy has stagnated. Trade and development finance for renewable energy has fluctuated between \$20 billion and \$27 billion per year since



Figure 1: G20 country and MDB international public finance for fossil fuel, renewable, and other energy, 2012-2020.





2014 instead of growing exponentially as is urgently needed to support a globally just energy transition. It averaged \$25.6 billion 2018-2020. 'Other' energy — made up mostly of transmission and distribution projects where the energy source is mixed or not clear — has stayed between \$20 billion and \$30 billion per year with an outsized amount in 2015 as an exception. It averaged \$23.7 billion 2018-2020

- By fossil fuel type, we find that G20 support for coal has trended downwards from an average of \$13.4 billion a year 2012-2017 to \$8.4 billion 2018 to 2020, and will nearly disappear after 2021 if **Korea, Japan, and China** uphold their recent commitments and policies to end this finance (Table 2). Together these three countries made up 81% of coal support in 2018-2020.
- Gas support makes up a growing share of this trade and development finance at 27% of all energy support 2018-2020

 read more in "Spotlight on public finance for gas" below.
 Support for oil — where it was possible to disaggregate from gas — dropped to near zero in 2020, likely in part because it was more heavily impacted by COVID-19 and faced the most project delays.¹⁸

Figure 2 shows the finance for fossil fuels disaggregated into broad supply chain stages. Finance for exploration and extraction has dropped from \$25.1 billion a year 2012-2017 to \$4.6 billion a year 2018-2020, one of the only dramatic shifts in the right direction in this dataset. However, it is important to note as well that the growing share of 'mixed or unclear' projects masks an increase in finance for liquefied natural gas (LNG) that frequently includes extraction as well as processing and transportation bundled into one project.

INTERNATIONAL PUBLIC FINANCE FOR ENERGY BY COUNTRY

This section covers export credit agencies and development finance institutions that are focused on bilateral finance. Government agencies or national development banks that occasionally provide international finance are not reflected here. To get a more holistic picture of support for fossil fuels from any one government, these international public finance figures should be combined with data on direct domestic fossil fuel subsidies, domestic public finance, support to energy-related state-owned enterprises, and countries.¹⁹

Overall:

 Canada, Japan, Korea, and China provided the most public finance for fossil fuels between 2018 and 2020, at \$11.0 billion, \$10.9 billion, \$10.6 billion, and \$7.3 billion a year respectively. Together they accounted for 46% of the MDB and G20 fossil fuel finance in our dataset. These countries have remained in the top position for the entire 2012-2020 dataset. **China** was the top fossil financier for 2012-2017, but their decrease in known energy finance matches an overall drop in international investment rather than being linked to new exclusion policies.

 Germany, France, and Japan provided the most public finance for renewable energy at \$2.8 billion, \$1.4 billion, and \$1.3 billion a year respectively. In the case of France, the majority of this went to domestic projects through BPIFrance.



Figure 3: Top 15 G20 countries for international public finance for fossil fuels compared to renewable energy, annual average 2018-2020, USD billions



TOP RECIPIENT COUNTRIES OF PUBLIC FINANCE FOR FOSSIL FUELS

Public institution support for fossil fuels is overwhelmingly not helping low income countries develop or improving energy access despite this argument being used frequently to justify continued fossil fuel finance. Where fossil fuel finance does flow to lowerincome countries, it often benefits multinational corporations and wealthy "donor" countries over local populations. For example, our data shows that in Mozambique, the second-largest recipient of public finance for fossil fuels for 2018 to 2020, 98.5% of the \$18.5 billion in public finance committed has gone to facilities linked to the extraction and export of the country's offshore gas rather than domestic consumption or energy access. These financial flows have also contributed to a record of human rights violations, displacement, and local health and environmental impacts from the industry.



Figure 4. Top 20 G20 recipient countries for international public finance for fossil fuels. Annual average 2018-2020, USD billions.



Overall, we find:

- The largest recipients of support for fossil fuels tend to be countries that are not the poorest. Twelve of the top 19 recipients of public finance were high or upper-middle income countries by the World Bank classifications. Six — Bangladesh, Egypt, India, Nigeria, Uzbekistan, Vietnam — were lowermiddle income, and only Mozambique low-income. The top four recipients were Russia, Mozambique, Canada and Nigeria.
- A wide variety of public support around the world is needed to ensure the transition to renewable energy, but relatively little

of the public finance is helping those lower-income countries most in need of support. The greatest shares of renewable energy public finance also flowed to the wealthiest countries, with **France, Australia, Spain and the United Kingdom** in the top ten.

These patterns are misaligned with the need for the wealthiest countries to move first and fastest in phasing out their own fossil fuel production and to provide their fair share of international support to countries in the Global South towards a just energy transition.

EXPORT CREDIT AGENCIES

Export credit agencies (ECAs) are official or quasi-official agents of governments that provide government-backed credit, insurance, guarantees, and loans for the international operations of corporations from their home country. Increasingly, these are provided for domestic operations as well. Many ECAs support investments that would be too risky for private finance alone, and therefore would not receive private investment without government backing. It is important to note that there is no uniform structure for public export financing across the G2O; while many countries have single dedicated ECAs, some have multiple institutions that provide different kinds of export finance, as with China, Japan, and Korea. Other countries have ECAs that function as one arm of a wider institution, as in Brazil and France. Issues with transparency and accountability have plagued ECAs as they are often opaque institutions that provide few details on their investments.

ECAs continue to be the largest supporter of international fossil fuel projects, providing billions annually in 2018-2020:

 ECAs provided an average of \$40.1 billion annually to fossil fuels – 82% of ECA support. This is compared to \$3.5 billion for renewable energy. These overall numbers are unlikely to change without real policy reform at the OECD and nationally to add restrictions on oil and gas financing as many ECAs have



Figure 6. Top 12 G20 ECA supporters of fossil fuels compared to renewable energy, annual average 2018-2020, USD billions



strong ties to the fossil fuel industry and have shown little initiative to shift financing away from fossil fuels.

- The breakdown in annual average fossil fuel support is \$3.9
 billion for coal and \$36.3 billion for oil and gas. The countries that provided export finance for coal between 2018 and 2020 have made commitments to end such support (see Table 2). The UK is the only G20 country that has ended almost all oil and gas export finance.
- Canada, Korea, Japan, and China continue to be the four largest ECA supporters of fossil fuels. Canada's is driven by Export Development Canada's unusually broad mandate that allows for domestic finance. China is by far the largest supporter of coal, but in 2021 announced it will end support for overseas coal plants.
- The U.S. Export-Import Bank was only able to provide support from May 2019 because it did not have a sufficient number of members on its board to approve large deals. Otherwise, given previous patterns of support and its billions approved for fossil fuels since May 2019, EXIM likely would have been a top supporter. Between May 2019 and September 2021, EXIM has provided over \$5.5 billion for fossil fuel projects, including Mozambique LNG and Pemex.

DEVELOPMENT FINANCE INSTITUTIONS

Development finance institutions (DFIs) have mandates to support development domestically or internationally, including national development banks and aid agencies. The data provided in this section does not include most energy financing provided through financial intermediaries, which channel a large and increasing portion of DFI support. Due to the severe lack of transparency of financial intermediaries, it is difficult to track which sub-projects end up being financed.

Despite their development mandate, DFI support for fossil fuels continued to far outpace its support for renewable energy in 2018-2021:

- DFIs provided about \$16.2 billion each year to fossil fuel projects. This support was almost double the average annual support for renewable energy, \$8.4 billion.
- Japan, Russia, China, and Saudi Arabia were the largest DFI supporters of fossil fuels, while Germany, France, and Brazil were the largest DFI supporters of renewable energy.
- DFIs continued to support coal projects with \$4.2 billion a year on average, mainly from China, Japan, and India. This number should decrease if Japan, China, and Korea uphold their announcements of ending support for overseas coal plants (see Table 2).



Figure 8. Top 12 G20 DFI supporters of fossil fuels compared to renewable energy, annual average 2018-2020, USD billions



- DFI support for oil and gas decreased from previous periods to an annual average of \$11.7 billion. This was largely driven by a decrease in China's overall international finance. With large sums of money continuing for projects like gas development in northern Mozambique, already oversupplied gas in Ghana, and risky megaprojects like the TAP pipeline, development finance continues to flow to fossil fuel projects that are fundamentally inconsistent with efforts to limit global warming to 1.5°C.
- DFI support for renewables stayed roughly the same over the previous periods despite the reductions in cost and pledges from G20 countries to increase climate finance.²⁰ This failure to scale up renewable finance aligns with broader development finance trends. Research from Overseas Development Institute suggests overall overseas development aid has decreased in quantity since 2016 and that it has trended towards meeting narrower conceptions of donor country interests rather than where there is the greatest need.²¹

MULTILATERAL DEVELOPMENT BANKS

The nine major multilateral development banks (MDBs) share a mandate for sustainable development, and have committed in multiple international fora to jointly align their finance with the Paris Agreement. While MDBs have a lower overall proportion of finance for fossil fuels than the bilateral finance institutions covered in this report and are the only category of institution with a consistent trend of decreasing support for fossil fuels, they also have the most concessional financing relative to the other kinds of institutions. This means their finance for fossil fuels acts as a more significant subsidy to the industry on a per dollar basis.

Overall:

- MDBs provided \$6.4 billion each year to fossil fuel projects, a significant decrease from the 2012-2017 average of \$10.7 billion per year. Half of this decrease approximately \$2.2 billion per year was driven by a phase-in of an exclusion for upstream oil and gas at the World Bank Group and a near full fossil fuel exclusion at the European Investment Bank that was agreed during the 2018-2020 period.
- The two largest MDBs, **World Bank Group** and the **European Investment Bank** still provided the most finance for fossil fuels



Figure 10: Fossil fuel compared to renewable energy support from MDBs, annual average 2018-2020



2018-2020. Due to new policies shown in Table 2, **EIB** finance for fossil fuels should drop to near zero at the end of 2021.

- MDB support for renewable energy was \$14.8 billion per year,
 2.3 times the support for fossil fuels. However, 50% of this went to countries in the EU rather than low income countries, because the **EIB** was the largest supporter of renewable energy and most of their finance is directed towards Europe.
- There was almost no remaining known direct coal finance, with only \$248 million or 0.7% of MDB energy finance flowing to coal. 60% of this was for efficiency retrofits for existing facilities.

The WBG, Asian Development Bank (ADB), African Development Bank (AfDB), European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD), and the Inter-American Development Bank (IBRD) engage in policy-based lending whereby they provide finance and advice to support policy reforms and/or institutional changes in a specific sector or general budget support, sometimes conditioning the disbursement of funding on implementation of certain policy programs or institutional actions. Budget support in particular grew in 2020 to support COVID-19 recovery efforts. It is often not possible to disentangle how much policy-based lending supports different energy sub sectors but there are many concerning recent case studies whereby MDB policy-based lending has paved the way for the development of new fossil fuel sectors or provided tax breaks for fossil fuels.²²

SPOTLIGHT ON PUBLIC FINANCE FOR GAS

As some governments and public finance institutions start to implement policies restricting public finance for fossil fuels, fossil gas finance has frequently been allowed to continue or been given a longer phase-out time or larger loopholes than oil and coal. This also means it has received a growing share of the pie. This blind spot for fossil gas has been aided by the pervasive industry-led argument that it is a 'bridge fuel' that can help reach climate goals and will be needed for reliable electricity grids (see Box 1).

Overall:

- Gas received more public finance than any other source of energy 2018-2020, 1.2 times the support all kinds of renewable energy combined received (Figure 12)
- Japan, Korea, and China provided the most finance for gas, making up 49% of the total. This potentially leaves out **Canada** whose oil and gas support is reported in aggregate.
- **Mozambique** and **Russia** received the highest amounts of finance for gas with more than \$6 billion per year each.



Figure 12: International public finance by energy type, annual average 2018-2020, USD Billions

- In Mozambique, less than 2% of this public finance for gas went to domestic power generation, with the remainder for extraction or LNG facilities for export.
- **Japan**'s new commitment in April 2021 to provide \$10.0 billion to expand LNG markets in Asia is of particular concern.²³

These numbers also likely understate the amount of gas support because it is not possible to disaggregate many oil and gas transactions. This is because a lot of general corporate support flows to fossil fuel companies have holdings in both oil and gas, and because at the project level oil and gas are often extracted from the same fields.

GAS IS DIRTY, EXPENSIVE, AND UNDERMINES THE TRANSITION TO RENEWABLE ENERGY.

Gas breaks the carbon budget: The carbon dioxide emissions associated with the oil, gas, and coal in the world's currently-producing and under-construction extraction projects alone would take the world far beyond safe climate limits. This is before taking into account methane emissions along the gas supply chain, which can make gas more climate-damaging than coal.³¹

Coal-to-gas switching and CCS do not cut it: Climate goals require the entire global energy sector to decarbonize by mid-century. Replacing coal plants with new gas plants will not cut emissions by nearly enough, even if methane leakage is kept to a minimum.³² Energy models that project continued gas production while meeting climate goals rely on unrealistic levels of carbon capture and storage (CCS), a technology that is much more costly than renewable energy alternatives and remains unproven at scale.³³ Most scientists and practitioners recommend reserving CCS or other carbon dioxide removal technologies for the hardest-to-decarbonize sectors.34

Gas is not needed for reliable power generation or other uses: The majority of gas consumption is associated with uses that already have cost-competitive clean alternatives in most countries and circumstances.35 For other uses of gas, costs of alternative new technologies are falling, with competitiveness expected to be achieved in the 2020s or 2030s. For power grids, gas is not the only, nor the best, resource available for balancing high levels of wind and solar optimizing a wide range of technologies and solutions, including battery storage, demand response, and transmission now provides the most stable and costeffective results.³⁶

Gas investments often displace lower-cost clean alternatives: Investments in gas pipelines, LNG terminals, and compressor stations are economically predicated on them operating for 40 or more years. In Egypt, Mozambique, Algeria, South Africa, Namibia, Botswana and Ghana among many others gas infrastructure, long-term gas contracts with poor terms - in many cases designed with the technical assistance of the World Bank or other public finance institutions³⁷ and the political incumbency of the gas industry have crowded out renewable energy investments.38

Public finance for gas has not delivered on jobs, energy access or government revenues: The gas industry - like oil and coal - has consistently over-promised and underdelivered on development benefits.39 This situation stands to get worse as decarbonization creates more stranded gas assets. In Mozambique, the secondlargest recipient of public finance for fossil fuels for 2018 to 2020, 98.5% of the \$18.5 billion in public finance committed has gone to facilities linked to the extraction and export of the country's offshore gas rather than domestic consumption or energy access. This matches public finance wider trends: from 2014 to 2017, over 90% of MDB finance for fossil fuels was not aimed at advancing energy access for the poor, despite these fossil investments being frequently justified in the context of providing energy access.40

Fossil gas has a human cost: Fossil gas production and infrastructure often causes negative health impacts and local environmental damage.⁴¹ In Mozambique, Canada, the United States, and Nigeria among many others the gas industry has driven human rights and Indigenous rights abuses.⁴²

TRACKING FOSSIL FUEL EXCLUSION POLICIES AT INTERNATIONAL PUBLIC FINANCE INSTITUTIONS

Coal: Following earlier policies to exclude international coal support from many G20 countries and MDBs, in 2020 and 2021 Japan, Korea, and China, the largest three remaining supporters for coal, have followed suit. Together these three countries made up 81% of coal support from G20 and MDB sources 2018-2020. Their exit will leave India as the largest remaining coal backer. However, some of the details of these new policies are not yet certain. For Korea and China, high-level commitments have been made, but exact policy details are not yet available. In the case of Japan, in June 2021, the Japanese Government revised the Infrastructure Systems Export Strategy 2025 "end(ing) new direct international government support for unabated coal-fired power generation by the end of 2021." Despite this commitment, the Japan International Cooperation Agency (JICA) remains open to financing coal power upon the official request of the host countries and is expected to finance the 1GW Indramayu expansion in Indonesia and the 1.2GW Matarbari Phase 2 in Bangladesh.²⁴

Oil and Gas: After largely moving away from coal, some public finance institutions are starting to take steps to also restrict public finance for oil and gas as part of their Paris-alignment efforts. The UK, EIB, and non-G2O country Sweden have implemented policies that restrict almost all future fossil fuel support. The United States has signalled its intention to implement a similar policy in an April 2021 plan, and the EU Foreign Affairs committee has adopted a policy to "[d]iscourage all further investments into fossil fuel based energy infrastructure projects in third countries."²⁵ The French Development Agency (AFD), ADB, and World Bank Group all have policies ruling out more than one category or life cycle stage of oil and gas. Four other G2O bilateral institutions and three other MDBs have partial policies ruling out support for some categories of oil and gas. The most common partial restriction is for exploration and extraction — the impact of which we can see in the decrease

in this category shown in Figure 2. Support for gas remains the most contentious in most public finance policy updates despite the evidence that it is not clean, cheap, or helpful for development (Box 1). The UK and EIB plan to make a joint statement with other countries at COP26 to grow the club of first movers away from public finance for oil and gas.

Indirect fossil fuel finance: Since 2019, there has been an increase in new policies making exclusions for fossil fuel finance through financial intermediaries and associated facilities including the EIB, UK, the US Treasury Guidance towards MDBs, and the ADB. However, many of these have significant loopholes or unclear methodologies. Work to end fossil fuel support through technical assistance, especially through the significant policy support portfolios of many MDBs, is urgently needed as this form of public finance influences policies and therefore has some of the most outsized effects.

BILATERAL INSTITUTIONS

Cross cutting or multiple institution agreements:²⁶

- Export credit agencies: The OECD Coal-Fired Electricity Generation Sector Understanding covers member ECAs. This excludes support for coal plants unless they meet "Ultra Super Critical " standards with emissions <750g CO2/kWh or had an environmental assessment in place before 2017 — though some notable breaches of this policy have occurred.
- **Development finance institutions:** To date there are no widely held multilateral agreements on fossil fuel restrictions for DFIs as there are for MDBs and ECAs.

Table 2. Policies excluding fossil fuel support at bilateral institutions, by country.²⁷



No exclusions in place at any of the country's relevant institutions. This includes policies that may in practice curtail investments but do not place concrete limits. Exclusion of only one supply chain stage / category OR no finance in this category identified.

Exclusion of more than one supply chain stage / category OR full restrictions at some institutions only. Full exclusion across all relevant institutions. We include institutions with welldefined and limited exceptions for emergency settings and energy access here.

"Indirect Finance Exclusions" includes any policies dealing with fossil fuel finance through related infrastructure, advisory services, technical assistance, or financial intermediaries. Where there are no sources noted here for a country, they either had no relevant restrictions policies or these were fully covered by the joint country initiatives cited above.

Country	Average Annual Fossil Fuel Finance 2018-2020, USD Millions	Coal Exclusion Policies	Oil Exclusion Policies	Gas Exclusion Policies	Indirect Finance Exclusions
Argentina Banco de Inversión y Comercio Exterior	26	No exclusion policy in place but no coal support identified.	No exclusion policies.	No exclusion policies.	No relevant policies.
Australia Export Finance Australia	78	OECD restriction for ECAs, no other policy.	No exclusion policies.	No exclusion policies.	No relevant policies.
Brazil Brazilian Development Bank	452	Full exclusion on coal after 2021.	No finance for oil- fired power plants.	Restriction for gas plant finance to 50% of total investment per project.	No relevant policies.
Canada Business Development Bank of Canada, Export Development Canada, PPP Canada	11,004	Full exclusion on coal after 2019, no coal support identified.	Indirect restriction at EDC through 2021 policy to reduce combined support to 6 carbon intensive sectors (incl oil) by 40% below 2018 levels	Indirect restriction at EDC through 2021 policy to reduce combined support to 6 carbon intensive sectors (incl gas) by 40% below 2018 levels.	No relevant policies.
China China Development Bank, China Export and Credit Insurance Corporation, China Silk Road Fund, Export-Import Bank of China	7,317	2021 UNGA pledge to end finance for overseas coal plants, timeline and details unclear.	No exclusion policies.	No exclusion policies.	No relevant policies.
France Agence Française de Développement, BPI France, Caisse des Depots et Consignations, Proparco	362	Full exclusion of coal, no coal support identified.	Exclusion of unconventional oil and routine flaring for export credits by 2021 and phase out of other upstream support by 2025. AFD exclusion for upstream and power plants.	Exclusion of unconventional gas and routine flaring for export credits by 2021 and phase out of other upstream support by 2035. AFD exclusion for all upstream.	AFD policy excludes associated facilities and transport projects for any fossil fuel projects ineligible for direct finance.
Germany Hermes Cover, German Investment & Development Corporation (DEG), KfW Group	2,751	OECD restriction for ECAs. KfW, DEG, and KfW IPEX-Bank have full exclusions for coal.	KfW, DEG, and KFW IPEX-Bank exclusion on unconventional upstream projects.	KfW, DEG, and KFW IPEX-Bank water and drilling safety standards for unconventional upstream gas projects.	No relevant policies.

India Export-Import Bank of India, India Infrastructure Finance Company, Indian Renewable Energy Development Agency, Infrastructure Development Finance Company, Power Finance Corporation	1,064	No exclusion policies.	No exclusion policies.	No exclusion policies.	No relevant policies.
Indonesia Indonesia Eximbank	68	No exclusion policies.	No exclusion policies.	No exclusion policies.	No relevant policies.
Italy Cassa Depositi e Prestiti, Servizi Assicurativi del Commercio Estero	2,769	OECD restriction for ECAs.	No exclusion policies.	No exclusion policies.	No relevant policies.
Japan Development Bank of Japan, Japan Bank for International Cooperation, Japan International Cooperation Agency, Japan Oil Gas and Metals National Corporation, Nippon Export and Investment Insurance	10,923	OECD restriction for ECAs extends to all institutions and there is a not fully defined commitment to end unabated coal plant finance by 2021. However, JICA is still considering financing at least 2 new coal plants.	No exclusion policies.	No exclusion policies.	No relevant policies.
Korea Export-Import Bank of Korea, Korea Development Bank, Korea Finance Corporation, Korea Trade Insurance Corporation	10,647	OECD restriction for ECAs, no finance for new coal plants after 2021.	No exclusion policies.	No exclusion policies.	No relevant policies.
Mexico Banco Nacional de Comercio Exterior, Nacional Financiera	236	No exclusion policy in place, but no coal support identified.	No exclusion policies.	No exclusion policies.	No relevant policies.
Russia Export Insurance Agency of Russia, Russian Development Bank	2,343	No exclusion policies.	No exclusion policies.	No exclusion policies.	No relevant policies.
Saudi Arabia Public Investment Fund, Saudi Fund for Development, Saudi Industrial Development Fund	1,451	No exclusion policy in place, but no coal support identified.	No exclusion policies.	No exclusion policies.	No relevant policies.
South Africa Development Bank of Southern Africa, Export Credit Insurance Corporation, Industrial Development Corporation of South Africa	430	No exclusion policies.	No exclusion policies.	No exclusion policies.	No relevant policies.

United Kingdom CDC Group Plc, Department for International Development, UK Export Finance	1,462	Full exclusion for coal plants and mining across all institutions.	Full exclusion for oil across all institutions.	Restricts most gas finance except in "exceptional" circumstances. Never allows support for upstream gas or distribution into the global market — including no LNG export terminals.	March 2021 policy applies to all intermediated finance, directly related infrastructure, and technical advice but lacks a clear methodology for intermediaries.
United States Export-Import Bank of the United States, Development Finance Corporation (formerly Overseas Private Investment Corporation)	3,149	OECD restriction for ECAs. A joint 2013 policy statement excludes new finance for overseas coal plants, but it is non-binding and DFC is currently considering new plants.	No exclusion policies.	No exclusion policies.	No relevant policies.

Gibraltar Explosion by Josh13770 is licensed under CC BY 2.0



MULTILATERAL INSTITUTIONS

The **nine major MDBs have committed to aligning their financial flows with the objectives of the Paris Agreement**, first doing so alongside the International Development Finance Club at the One Planet Summit in 2017.²⁸ However, despite near-annual joint announcements since then, draft criteria to discern which projects are "Paris-aligned" are weak. The proposed process also appears to include substantial loopholes including a board-level veto for the approval of any projects deemed misaligned.²⁹ To date, no MDB has put policies in place that are truly aligned with a 1.5°C future, although the EIB is clearly showing leadership in this area.

Table 3: Policies restricting fossil fuel support at MDBs.³⁰



Exclusion of only one supply chain stage / category OR no finance in this category identified. Exclusion of more than one supply chain stage / category.

Full exclusion. We include institutions with well-defined and limited exceptions for emergency settings and energy access here.

"Indirect Finance Exclusions" includes any policies dealing with fossil fuel finance through related infrastructure, advisory services, technical assistance, or financial intermediaries.

MDB	Average Annual Fossil Fuel Finance 2018-2020, USD Millions	Coal Exclusion Policies	Oil Exclusion Policies	Gas Exclusion Policies	Indirect Finance Exclusions
European Investment Bank	1,485	Partial exclusion since 2013, nearly full exclusion after 2021. No coal support identified.	Nearly full exclusion for all "unabated" projects after 2021.	After 2021, no new "unabated" gas projects will be financed above a threshold of 250gCO2/kWh. No upstream, infrastructure, or heating.	There is a commitment for all exclusions to include intermediaries, advisory and technical assistance, and associated facilities. However, the details are not yet defined.
European Bank for Reconstruction and Development	890	No thermal coal mining or coal plants. No coal support identified.	Exclusion on upstream oil development after 2018 with few exceptions.	"Additional screening" of gas- related projects.	No relevant policies.
World Bank Group	1787	No thermal coal mining or coal plants except in rare cases. No coal support identified.	No upstream or oil pipelines.	No upstream projects. For other projects, undefined screening criteria where there are "urgent energy demands and no short- term renewable alternatives to reliably serve such demand."	International Finance Corporation's Green Equity Strategy excludes clients that do not have a plan to exit coal by 2030.
Inter-American Development Bank	157	No thermal coal mining or coal-fired power generation and associated facilities. No coal support identified.	No upstream projects.	No upstream gas projects except under "exceptional circumstances".	No relevant policies.
African Development Bank	229	Verbal but not yet written commitment to end all coal support. No coal support identified.	No exploration.	No exploration.	No relevant policies.

Asian Development Bank	854	2021 energy policy excludes coal finance	2021 energy policy excludes oil finance	Exclusion of unconventional gas and routine flaring for export credits by 2021 and phase out of other upstream support by 2035. AFD exclusion for all upstream.	AFD policy excludes associated facilities and transport projects for any fossil fuel projects ineligible for direct finance.
New Development Bank	460	No exclusion policies.	No exclusion policies.	There is a commitment for all exclusions to include intermediaries except for oil.	No relevant policies.
Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank	387	Energy policy rules out coal except in rare circumstances, and no coal support identified.	No exclusion policies.	No exclusion policies.	Financial intermediary investments exclude coal.
Islamic Development Bank	150	No exclusion policies.	No exclusion policies.	No exclusion policies.	No relevant policies.



Climate activists from 350 Pilipinas wield pixelsticks and fairy lights in Manila, Philippines to call on the G20 leaders to prioritize a Just Recovery – demanding justice and a dignified, liveable future for all. AC Dimatatac ©350.org

RECOMMENDATIONS

As part of their fair share to limit warming to 1.5°C and ensure a liveable future, G20 governments and the MDBs they control must:

- Implement whole-of-government policies (or whole-ofinstitution policies in the case of MDBs) to immediately end new public finance for oil, gas, and coal projects: G20 governments and MDBs should adopt explicit commitments both domestically and internationally to end financing for fossil fuels. This should include ending support across the fossil fuel supply chain, including exploration, extraction, transportation, and power plants with limited exceptions for emergency settings and short-term use of LPG for energy access. In addition, G20 governments and MDBs must ensure that there are no loopholes that allow "indirect" public finance for fossil fuels to continue through related infrastructure, advisory services, technical assistance, policy support, or financial intermediaries.
- Engage in targeted diplomacy to end public finance for fossil fuels internationally: This should include bilateral diplomacy towards peer countries as well as meaningful engagement in multilateral processes impacting public finance like the OECD Arrangement on Officially Supported Export Credits and MDB governance. Countries and public finance institutions should also join the UK and EIB-led initiative for a joint commitment to end public finance for fossil fuels on a short timeframe and instead shift those resources to renewable energy.
- Provide fair share of debt cancellation and climate finance: G20 countries, especially the high-income members, should ensure they are not acting as a barrier to a rapid and globally just energy transition. This means pursuing debt cancellation, greatly exceeding current climate finance targets, and paying reparations to ensure Global South countries have adequate resources to pursue a just transition and their own chosen lowcarbon development pathways.

- Rapidly scale up support for renewable energy, energy efficiency, just transition plans, and energy access: G20 governments and MDBs must align all lending and operations at public finance institutions with a high-probability and equitable 1.5°C pathway. To avoid deepening inequalities, supported projects must be implemented with comprehensive human rights due diligence, community-led development principles, and alignment with countries' chosen low carbon development pathways. In particular, public finance institutions should prioritize support for the implementation of participatory just transition plans in the regions most dependent on fossil fuels and for the off-grid and mini-grid renewable energy needed to reach universal energy access.
- Ensure transparent and timely reporting on all energy finance: G20 governments and MDBs should require all public institutions to provide timely accounting of the full life-cycle emissions of the projects they support. This should include the amount and type of financing, and details on the projects and subprojects supported. For transactions involving financial intermediaries and cross-cutting projects like policy-based lending at MDBs, all energy-related components must be clearly delineated. This is the bare minimum needed in order to have a clear picture of the climate impact of the projects financed, which in the case of fossil fuel projects, will continue to pollute for decades. This information would allow affected communities and organisations to provide input and monitor the implementation of those projects.

Darling National Demonstration Wind Farm in Cape Town, South Africa; warrenski CC BY-SA 2.0

-

APPENDIX

LIST OF INSTITUTIONS INCLUDED

It is important to note many institutions provide a mix of services. ECAs may provide bilateral development finance in addition to export credits. For example, KfW provides support for domestic projects, bilateral aid, and export finance. National development banks, such as China Development Bank and Russian Development Bank (VEB), provide domestic financing as well as international financing. There are also bilateral aid agencies such as JICA that may provide loans, grants, policy lending, and technical assistance. Generally, these institutions provide energy finance internationally, but they sometimes also provide domestic support. These domestic projects are also included where information is available.

MULTILATERAL DEVELOPMENT BANKS (MDBS)

- European Investment Bank (EIB)
- Asian Development Bank (ADB)
- European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD)
- Inter-American Development Bank (IADB)
- African Development Bank (AfDB)
- Islamic Development Bank (IsDB)
- New Development Bank (NDB)
- Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank (AIIB)
- World Bank Group (WBG):
 - International Bank for Reconstruction and Development (IBRD)
 - International Finance Corporation (IFC)
 - International Development Association (IDA)
 - Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency (MIGA)

EXPORT CREDIT AGENCIES (ECAS)

- **Australia:** Export Finance Australia (EFA formerly Export Finance and Insurance Corporation)
- Brazil: Brazilian Development Bank (BNDES) Export Credit
 Account
- **Canada:** Export Development Canada (EDC includes both Corporate Account and Canada Account)
- China: Export-Import Bank of China (CHEXIM), China Export and Credit Insurance Corporation (SINOSURE)

- France: BPIFrance Assurance Export (formerly Coface)
- Germany: Export Credit Guarantees of the Federal Republic of Germany (Hermes Cover)
- India: Export-Import Bank of India (India EXIM)
- Indonesia: Indonesia Eximbank (Indonesia EXIM)
- Italy: Servizi Assicurativi del Commercio Estero (SACE)
- Japan: Japan Bank for International Co-operation (JBIC), Nippon Export and Investment Insurance (NEXI)
- Korea: Export-Import Bank of Korea (Korea EXIM), Korea Trade Insurance Corporation (K-Sure)
- Mexico: Banco National de Comercio Exterior (Bancomext)
- Russia: Export Insurance Agency of Russia (EXIAR)
- South Africa: Export Credit Insurance Corporation (ECIC)
- Turkey: Turk Eximbank
- United Kingdom: UK Export Finance (UKEF)
- United States: Export-Import Bank of the United States (U.S. EXIM)

DEVELOPMENT FINANCE INSTITUTIONS (DFIS)

- Argentina: Banco de Inversion y Comercio Exterior (BICE)
- **Brazil:** Brazilian Development Bank (BNDES)
- Canada: Sustainable Development Technology Canada
- China: China Development Bank (CDB), China Silk Road Fund (SRF)
- France: Agence Française de Développement (AFD), Caisse des Depots et Consignations (CDC France), Proparco, BPIFrance Investissement and BPIFrance Financement
- **Germany:** KfW Group (Including KfW Development Bank, KfW IPEX-Bank, and the German Investment & Development Corporation (DEG))
- India: Power Finance Corporation, Infrastructure Development Finance Company, India Infrastructure Finance Company, Indian Renewable Energy Development Agency
- Indonesia: Sarana Multi Infrastruktur (PT SMI), Indonesia Infrastructure Guarantee Fund (IIGF)
- Italy: Cassa depositi e prestiti (CDP)
- Japan: Japan International Cooperation Agency (JICA), Japan Oil Gas and Metals National Corporation (JOGMEC), Development Bank of Japan (DBJ)
- Korea: Korea Development Bank (KDB), Korea Finance Corporation (KoFC), Korea International Cooperation Agency (KOICA)

- Mexico: Nacional Financiera
- Russia: VEB-RF (formerly Vnesheconombank)
- **Saudi Arabia:** Public Investment Fund, Saudi Fund for Development, Saudi Industrial Development Fund (SIDF)
- South Africa: Development Bank of Southern Africa (DBSA), Industrial Development Corporation of South Africa (IDCSA)
- Turkey: Development Bank of Turkey (Turkiye Kalkinma Bankasi A.S.)
- United Kingdom: CDC Group Plc (CDC UK), Department for International Development (DFID)
- **United States:** U.S. International Development Finance Corporation (DFC, formerly Overseas Private Investment Corporation)

TABLES WITH COUNTRY AND MDB INTERNATIONAL ENERGY FINANCE FOR 2018-2020

Table A-1: Known International public finance for energy from G20 countries, USD Millions, annual averages for 2018 to 2020.

Country	Coal	Oil & Gas	Other	Renewable	All energy
Japan	2,079	8,843	1,320	737	12,980
Canada	-	11,004	500	764	12,268
Korea	1,424	9,223	772	457	11,876
China	3,308	3,954	364	3,384	11,009
Germany	4	2,747	2,822	457	6,030
Brazil	72	381	844	3,088	4,384
United States	29	3,120	833	89	4,072
Russia	63	2,281	97	1,428	3,868
India	986	79	170	2,098	3,332
Italy	7	2,762	170	301	3,240
UK	22	1,440	413	511	2,386
Saudi Arabia	30	1,420	456	339	2,246
France	-	362	1,427	295	2,084
Mexico	-	243	344	24	611
South Africa	24	407	136	29	595
Australia	33	45	1	1	80
Indonesia	68	-	-	-	68
Turkey	-	20	31	-	51
Argentina	-	26	5	-	31
Total	8,150	48,354	10,706	13,650	80,860

Source: Oil Change International Shift the Subsidies Database.

Table A-2: Known Multilateral Development Bank energy finance, USD Millions, annual averages for 2018 to 2020.

Country	Coal	Oil & Gas	Other	Renewable	All energy
European Investment Bank	-	1,474	3,454	6,474	11,413
World Bank Group	-	1,787	4,658	3,228	9,673
Asian Development Bank	43	811	2,015	893	3,762
European Bank for Reconstruction and Development	-	890	1,000	1,596	3,486
Inter-American Development Bank	-	157	1,137	1,097	2,391
African Development Bank	-	229	824	277	1,330
New Development Bank	160	300	0	814	1,274
Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank	-	387	406	323	1,116
Islamic Development Bank	33	117	233	49	433
Total	248	6,152	13,726	14,753	34,879

REFERENCES

- IPCC, "Summary for Policymakers," In: Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis, Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovermental Panel on Climate Change, Sixth Assessment Report, 2021, https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wgl/; United Nations Secretary-General, "Secretary-General's statement on the IPCC Working Group 1 Report on the Physical Science Basis of the Sixth Assessment," August 9 2021, https://www.un.org/sg/en/content/ secretary-generals-statement-the-ipcc-working-group-1-report-the-physical-science-basis-of-thesixth-assessment.
- United Nations Environment Programme and Climate and Clean Air Coalition. GLOBAL METHANE ASSESSMENT: Summary for Decision Makers, 2021, https://wedocs.unep.org/bitstream/ handle/20.500.11822/35917/GMA_ES.pdf. International Energy Agency, Net Zero by 2050: A Roadmap for the Global Energy Sector, May 2021,
- 3
- https://www.iea.org/reports/net-zero-by-2050.
 Https://www.iea.org/reports/net-zero-by-2050.
 SEI, IISD, ODI, E3G, and UNEP, The Production Gap: The discrepancy between countries' planned fossil fuel production and global production levels consistent with limiting warming to 1.5° co r2°C, 2020, https://productiongap.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/PGR2020_EullRprt_web.pdf. 4
- 5
- https://productingap.org/wp/content/uploads/2020/12/96/2020_numbrC_webpdi.
 Tong, D., Zhang, O., Zheng, Y. et al., "Committed emissions from existing energy infrastructure jeopardize 1.5 °C climate target," *Nature* 572, 373–377, 2019, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1364-3. Greg Muttit and Sivan Kartha, "Equity, climate justice and fossil fuel extraction: principles for a managed phase out," *Climate Policy*, 20.8 (2020): pp. 1024-1042, http://www.tandfonline.com/10.108 0/146933062.2020.1763900; Friends of the Earth US, "United States of America: Fair Shares Nationally Determined Contribution," April 2021, http://foc.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/USA_Fair_Shares_ NDC.pdf; Christian Holz, et al., "Fairly sharing 1.5: National fair shares of a 1.5 °C-compliant global 6 HDC-bot, Cirrisatin Hot, et al., fairy sharing LS reaction fair shares of a L3 Coomplicity global mitigation effort," International Environmental Agreements: Policis, Law and Economics, 18, (2018): pp. 117–134, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10784-017-9371-z. Greg Muttitt, The Sky's Limit: Why the Paris climate goals require a managed decline of fossil fuel production, Oil Change International, September 2016, http://priceofoil.org/2016/09/22/the-skys-
- , limitreport
- Bloomberg New Energy Finance, 2021 Levelized Cost Of Electricity report, Bloomberg Terminal. Christine Eib Singer et al., "Energizing Finance: Understanding the Landscape 2020," Sustainable Energy for All, November 2020, p. 10, https://www.seforall.org/data-and-evidence/energizing-Energy Agency, January 2019, www.irena.org/~mww.agopland.Bishal Parajuli, Off-grid renewable energy solutions to expand electricity access: An opportunity not to be missed, International Renewable Energy Agency, January 2019, www.irena.org/~media/Files/IRENA/Agency/Publication/2019/Jan/ IRENA_Off-grid_RE_Access_2019.pdf
- Greg Muttitt et al., Step Off the Gas: International public finance, natural gas and clean alternatives in the Global South, 2021, International Institute for Sustainable Development, https://www.iisd.org/ system/files/2021-06/natural-gas-finance-clean-alternatives-global-south.pdf. 10
- system/files/2021-06/natural-gas-finance-clean-alternatives-global-south.pdf. Muttit et al.,Step off the Gas, p. 16-18. Bronwen Tucker and Kate DeAngelis, Still Digging: G20 Governments Continue to Finance the Climate Crisis, Oil Change International and Friends of the Earth United States, 2020, http://priceofoil. org/2020/05/27/g20-still-digging): Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (DECD), Investing in Climate, Investing in Growth, 2017, http://www.ecd.org/env/investing-in-climateinvesting-ingrowth-9789264273528-en.htm. Thomas Marois, "Public Banking on the Future We Want," in Public Finance for the Future We Want, Transnational Institute, (Amsterdam: Transnational Institute, 2019), p. 155, https://www.tni.org/en/ publicfinance; David Adler, Pawel Wargan, and Sona Parkash (Eds.), Blueprint for Europe's Just Transition: The Green New Deal for Europe Edition II, December 2019, Section 3.2.2, https://report.
- 13
- gndforeurope.com/. Sophie Fuchs et al. "Aligning Financial Intermediary Investments with the Paris Agreement." 14
- Germanwatch, 2021, https://germanwatch.org/en/20374. OECD, Structural developments in global financial intermediation: The rise of debt and non-bank 15 credit intermediation, OECD Working Papers on Finance, Insurance and Private Pensions, 2020. creati intermediation, OECD Working Papers on Finance, insurance and Private Pensions, 2020, https://www.oecd.org/publications/structural-developments-in-global-financial-intermediation-the-rise-of-debt-and-non-bank-credit-intermediation-daa87f13-en.htm; ADB lending to FIs in the decade from 2009 increased tenfold as shown in, Avril De Torres et al., "LEAVING BEHIND ADB'S DIRTY ENREGY LEGACY: Civil society critical reflections and recommendations," Center for Energy, Ecology, and Development, September 2020, https://th.boell.org/en/2020/10/08/leaving-behind-adps-dirty-energy-legacy-civil-society-critical-reflections-and, Data compiled by www.re-course.org shows some further examples: the AIIB has increased environmental-related financial intermediation from 11 to 14% of the value of their portfolia 2019 and the EIB's Europaa Invectment Eurod, which is notified
- further examples: the Allis has increased environmental-related intermediation from it to ray of the value of their portfolio 2018 to 2021 and the Ell's European Investment Fund, which is entirely financing through Fls, increased in value from EUR 10.2 billion in 2019 to EUR 12.9 billion in 2020. World Bank Group, 2015 Development Policy Financing Retrospective: Results and Sustainability, Operations Policy and Country Services, 2015, p. xi, http://pubdocs.worldbank.org/ en/420441457100264616/DevelopmentPolicyRetrospective2015.pdf, Heike Mainhardt, "World Bank Group Financial Flows Undermine the Paris Climate Agreement: The WBC contributes to higher profit margins for oil, gas, and coal," Urgewald, October 2019, https://urgewald.org/invected Paris Development Policy Down Unterline the Vector Paris Contributes to higher profit margins for oil, gas, and coal, Orgewald, October 2019, https://urgewald.org/meteri/revealed world-bank-pumps-billions-fossilsupdated-oct-18-2019; Heike Mainhardt, World Bank Development Policy Props up Fossil Fuels and Exacerbates Climate Change: Findings from Peru, Indonesia, Egypt, and Mozambique, Bank Information Center, January 2017, https://www.re-course.org/wpcontent/ uploads/2017/11/Study-2-ExecutiveSummary-of-DPL-reports.pdf. Xinyue Ma, Kevin Gallagher, and Siqi Chen, China's Global Energy Finance 2020, Boston University Global Development Policy Center, 2021, https://www.bue.du/dg/2021/02/12/chinas-global-energy-finance-2020/; Johnathan Wheatley, "China curtails overseas lending in face of geopolitical backlash" Financial Times December 2020 https://www.th.cudy.org/conterl/1047a-3a41-
- 17 backlash," Financial Times, December 2020, https://www.ft.com/content/1cb3e33b-e2c2-4743-ae41d3fffffa4259
- Galiniar259. IEA, World Energy Outlook 2020, https://www.iea.org/reports/world-energy-outlook-2020. Anna Geddes et al., Doubling Back and Doubling Down: G20 scorecard on fossil fuel funding, November 2020, https://www.iisd.org/publications/g20-scorecard. 18 19
- 20
- November 2020, https://www.iisd.org/publications/g20-scorecard. Ma, China's Global Energy Finance 2020; Wheatley, "China curtails overseas lending." Overseas Development Institute, *Prospects for aid at times of crisis*, March 2021, p. 18, https://cdn.odi. org/media/documents/wp-prospects_for_aid_at_times_of_crisis_final0403_v4.pdf. See for example: Susanne Wong, SOWING THE SEEDS OF CLIMATE CHAOS, Oil Change International, April 2021, http://priceofoil.org/content/uploads/2021/05/ADB-briefing-final.pdf; Hina Aslam et al, "Development Policy Finance: Critical concerns surrounding accountability and outcomes for people and the climate," Bretton Woods Project, March 2021, https://www.brettonwoodsproject. org/2021/03/development-policy-finance-critical-concerns-surrounding-accountability-and-outcomes-for-people-and-the-climate/; Mainhardt, *Findings from Peru, Indonesia, Egypt, and Mozambiure* 22 Mozambique.
- Takeo Kumagai and Eric Yep, "Japan backs LNG project financing ahead of Biden climate change 23
- Takeo Kumagai and Eric Yep, "Japan backs LNG project Innancing ahead of Biden climate change summit," SP Global, April 2021, https://www.splobal.com/platts/en/market-insights/latest-news/ natural-gas/042121-japan-backs-Ing-project-financing-ahead-of-biden-climate-change-summit. Yuki Tanabe et al, "[Joint Statement] Japan must not be allowed to violate the G7 Leaders' Statement Supporting new Coal Plants in Indonesia and Bangladesh goes against the Agreement," Sekitan, Jun 2021, https://sekitan.jp/jbic/en/2021/06/29/4865; No Coal Japan, "COP26 Wave of Change," October 2021, https://nocoaljapan.org/cop26/. United States Government, "EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: U.S. International Climate Finance Plan,' April 2, 2021, https://www.inter.com/dbidmence.plance/clo201/04/23/cvreutive-au. 24
- 22, 2021, https://www.htitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2021/04/22/executive summary-u-s-international-climate-finance-plan/ "EU foreign ministers commit to push for end to fossil fuel subsidies and finance; pressure builds on United States to follow suit," Oil Change International, 2021, http://priceofoil.org/2021/01/25/eu-ministers-fossil-finance-pressure-builds inited-states/
- Multiple country sources: For the OECD Coal Agreement see: OECD, "Sector Understanding on Export Credits for Coal-Fired Electricity Generation Projects," 27 November 2015, http://www.oecd. cog/officialdocuments/publicdisplaydocumentpdf/?cote=TAD/PG(2015)9/FINAL&docLanguage=En; Kate DeAngelis and Bronwen Tucker, "Adding Fuel to the Fire: Export Credit Agencies and Fossil Fuel Finance," Friends of the Eath US and Mozambique, January 2020, https://tbps6437gg8c169i0y1dtgz-wpengine.netdna-ssl.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/FoE_ECAs_R6_JM.pdf; For coal exclusion support to a fading industry, Overseas Development, and Oil Change International, Job 2019, https:// www.odi.org/publications/11355-g20-coal-subsidies-tracking-government-support-fading-industry
- Brazil: 350 Brazil, "Bye bye, coal: BNDES finally leaves the dirty mineral behind," July 2021, https://350.org/bye-bye-coal-bhdes-finally-leaves-the-dirty-mineral-behind/; "Environmental

Criteria to support power generation," Brazilian Development Bank, November 2017, https://www bndes.gov.br/SiteBNDES/bndes/bndes_en/Institucional/Social_and_Environmental_Responsibility/ socioenvironmental_policy/environmental_criteria_power_generation.html. Canada: Export Development Canada, EDC NET ZERO 2050: Steps, considerations and decisions along the path to net zero by 2050, pp. 4 & 8. https://www.edc.ca/en/blog/edc-net-zero ssions-2050.html.

China: Valerie Volcovici, David Brunnstrom, and Michelle Nichols, "In climate pledge, Xi says China will not build new coal-fired power projects abroad," Reuters, September 2021, https://www.reuters.com/

Inde Data Hew Oscimate Down projects and bada, Redes, Saptember 2021, https://www.euters.com/ world/china/xi-says-china-aims-provide-2-bin-vaccine-doses-by-year-end-2021-09-21/ France: Reuters Staff, "France to rein in export guarantees for oil and gas industry, *Reuters*, Octob 2020, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-france-economy-export-financing-idUKKBN26XIVI; "Energy Transition Strategy 2019-2022," Agence Francaise de Developpement, June 2019, p. 3, https://www.afd.fr/en/ressources/energy-transition-strategy-2019-2022; Paulica Pielicata, "French fund to further curb investment in thermal coal companies," *Pensions and Investments Online*, 29 November 2018, https://www.pionline.com/article/20181129/ONLINE/181129859/french-fundto-further-curb-investment-in-thermal-coal-companies; CAISSE DES DÉPÔTS, "Climate: Caisse des Dépôts Group strengthens its policy on financing fossil fuels," November 2020, https://www. caissedesdepots.fr/en/news/cdc-group-strengthens-its-policy-financing-fossil-fuels. Germany: KfW Group, "Exclusion List and Sectoral Guidelines of KfW Group," https://www.kfw.de/ DPF/Download-Center/Konzernthemen/Nachhaltigkeit/Ausschlussliste_EN.pdf; Brian Parkin and William Wilkes, "German Lender Pulls Out of Coal as Merkel Vows Greener Finance," *Bloomberg*, 2 July 2019, https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2019-07-02/german-lender-pulls-out-of-coal-

as-merkel-vows-greener-finance. Japan: "Joint Statement] Japan must not be allowed to violate the G7 Leaders' Statement – Supporting new Coal Plants in Indonesia and Bangladesh goes against the Agreement," Japan Center for a Sustainable Environment and Society (JACSES) and Friends of the Earth Japan, July 2021,

for a Sustainable Environment and Society (JACSES) and Friends of the Earth Japan, July 2021, https://www.kantei.go.jp/jp/singi/keikyou/dai5/Siyrou3.pdf; Sonia Dunlop et al., Banking on Asia: Alignment with the Paris Agreement at Six Development Finance Institutions in Asia, E3G, October 2019, https://www.edg.org/library/xecutive-summary-bankingon-asia; Korea: 'S.Korea's Moon vows to end new funding for overseas coal projects," *Reuters*, April 2021, https://www.reuters.com/article/global-climate-summit-southkorea-idUSL4N2MF3R2. United Kingdom: Government of the United Kingdom, "Aligning UK international support for the clean energy Transition," March 2021, https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/ system/uploads/attachment_data/file/975753/Guidance__Aligning_UK_international_support_for_ the_clean_energy_transition__March_2021_pdf. United States: New international climate finance plan from April 2021 lays out principles for new restrictions but it is not a formal policy at the time of publication. The White House Office of the

restrictions but it is not a formal policy at the time of publication. The White House Office of the Press Secretary, "Joint Statement by Kingdom of Denmark, Republic of Finland, Republic of Iceland, Kingdom of Norway, Kingdom of Sweden, and the United States of America," 4 September 2013, https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/the-press-office/2013/09/04/joint-statement-kingdom-Introductional Control (Control Control Con com/2018/10/24/world-bank-dumps-coal-plant-kosovo-turns-us/

- Joint IDFC-MDB Statement, "Together Major Development Finance Institutions Align Financial Flows with the Paris Agreement," The World Bank, 12 December 2017, https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/ statement/2017/12/12/together-major-development-finance-institutions-align-financial-flows-with-
- the-paris-agreement. Bronwen Tucker "Multilateral Development Banks fail to deliver on joint Paris Alignment promise at COP25," *Big Shift Global*, 12 December 2019, https://bigshiftglobal.org/multilateral-development-
- COP25;" *Big Shift Global*, 12 December 2019, https://bigshiftglobal.org/multilateral-development-banks-fail-deliver-joint-paris-alignment-promise-cop25. EIB: European Investment Bank, "EIB Energy Lending Policy: Supporting the energy transformation," November 2019, https://www.eib.org/attachments/strategies/eib_energy_lending_policy_en.pdf. ERRD: European Bank for Reconstruction and Development, "EBRD Energy Sector Strategy," December 2018, https://www.ebrd.com/news/2018/ebrd-puts-decarbonisation-at-centre-of-new-energy-sector-strategy.html WBG: World Bank Group, "World Bank Group Climate Change Action Plan 2021-2025;" April 2021, https://goeaheavid.docu.worldbank.group Climate Change Action Plan 2021-2025;" April 2021, https://goeaheavid.docu.worldbank.group Climate Change Action Plan 2021-2025;" April 2021,

HDS: word Bank ology, Word Bank org/handle/10886/35799; "Closing Loopholes: How the IFC can help end fossil fuel finance," Recourse and Trend Asia, March 2021, https://www.re-course.org/news/ closing-loopholes-how-the-ifc-can-help-end-fossil-fuel-finance/

IADB: https://www.iadb.org/en/news/idb-approves-new-environmental-and-social-policy-framework IADB: https://www.iadb.org/en/news/idb-approves-new-environmental-and-social-policy-tramework AfDB: African Development Bank, "The Bank Group's Strategy for The New Deal on Energy for Africa 2016 - 2025," June 2017, https://www.afdb.org/fileadmin/uploads/afdb/Documents/Generic-Documents/Bank_s_strategy_for_New_Energy_on_Energy_for_Africa_EN.pdf; African Development Bank, "Energy Sector Policy of the AfDB Group," accessed 15 April 2020, p. 22, https://www.afdb.org/ fileadmin/uploads/afdb/Documents/Policy-Documents/Energy_Sector_Policy_of_the_AfDB_Group, pdf; Alexander Winning, "African Development Bank decides not to fund Kenya coal," *Reuters*, 13 November 2019, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-africa-investment-coal/african-development bank/docides.cost.of.church.enviro.enviro.time/UKPBINUN0.8

bank-decides-not-to-fund-kenya-coal-project-idUSKBNIXNIA8. **ADB:** Asian Development Bank, "ADB Energy Policy: Supporting Low-Carbon Transition in Asia and the Pacific," October 2021, https://www.adb.org/documents/energy-policy-supporting-low-carbontransition-asia-and-pacific.

transition-asia-and-pacific. AIIB: "Energy Sector Strategy: Sustainable Energy for Asia," Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank, June 2017 (amended April 2018), https://www.aiib.org/en/policies-strategies/sustainable-energy-asia/index.html; Example of coal rule-out language in financial intermediation: AIIB, "Turkey Isbank COVID-19 Credit Line Project," 2021, https://www.aiib.org/en/projects/details/2021/_ download/Turkey/AIIB-PSI-P000399-Turkey-Isbank-COVID-19-Credit-Line-Sep-23-2021-Afterroval.pdf.

IsDB: Islamic Development Bank, "Energy Sector Policy: Sustainable Energy for Empowerment and Prosperity," December 2018, https://www.isdb.org/sites/default/files/media/documents/2019-04/

- Frosperty, December 2016, https://www.saddrig/sites/default/ines/nedia/documents/2019-04/ ISDB_Energy%20Sector%20Policy.pdf. Christina Swanson et al., Sailing to Nowhere: Liquefied Natural Gas Is Not an Effective Climate Strategy, Natural Resources Defense Council, 2020, https://www.nrdc.org/sites/default/files/sailing-31
- Strategy, Natural Resources Defense Council, 2020, https://www.nrdc.org/sites/default/files/sailing-nowhere-liquefied-natural-gas-report.pdf.
 Lorne Stockman, Kelly Trout, and Barb Blumenthal, Burning the Gas 'Bridge Fuel' Myth: Why gas is not clean, cheap, or necessary, Oil Change International, May 2019, http://priceofoil.org/2019/05/30/gas-is-not-a-bridge-fuel/.
 Niall Mac Dowell et al., "The role of CO2 capture and utilization in mitigating climate change," Nature Climate Change 7.4 (2017): 243-249, https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate3231.
 Greg Muttitt, Net Expectations: Assessing the role of carbon dioxide removal in companies' climate change. 32
- 33
- 34 plans, Greenpeace UK, 2021, https://www.greenpeace.org.uk/resources/net-expectations-cdrbriefing/. Muttitt et al., Step off the Gas
- 36
- Muttitt et al., Step off the Gas. 37
- Bronwen Tucker and Nikki Reisch, The Sky's Limit Africa: The Case for a Just Energy Transition from Fossil Fuel Production in Africa, Oil Change International, 2021, https://priceofoil.org/2021/10/14/the-skys-limit-africa/.
- Jonathan Gaventa, "Politics are hindering renewables in southern Africa," Energy Monitor, September 38 16, 2020, https://energymonitor.ai/technology/renewables in sourierin Annea, *Linergymonitor*, Jeptenin southern-africa; David Manley et al., "Gas-to-Power Challenges Point To Expansion of Renewables," Natural Resource Governance Institute, May 2020, https://resourcegovernance.org/blog/gas-topower-challenges-expansion-renewables-ghana-algeria; Muttitt et al., Step off the Gas
- Tucker, *Sky's Limit Africa*, p. 4l. Allison Lee, Shortchanging Energy Access: A Progress Report on Multilateral Development Bank Finance, Oil Change International, October 10, 2018, http://priceofoil.org/2018/10/10/shortchanging-
- nmane, on change international, occuper io, zong inter-ing internationaly zong ior ior shortchanging energy-access-reportmdb-finance. Tucker, Sky's Limit Africa; Stockman, Burning the Gas Myth. "Gendered and Racial Impacts of the Fossil Fuel Industry in North America and Complicit Financial Institutions: A Call to Action for the Health of our Communities and Nature in the Climate Crisis, 42 WECAN International, 2021, https://www.wecaninternational.org/2021-divestment-report; Tucker, Sky's Limit Africa



